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The Schaeffler House (c. 1909) is located at 312 E. Grand in Hillsboro, Kansas. The Queen Anne style house is 
a two-and-one half story cedar sided structure that stands on a rusticated limestone block foundation. An asphalt 
shingled, hipped roof bisected by cross gables covers the house. The house maintains a southern facade orientation.

A dark 9" x 16" slate shingle roof covers the house. Over the years some slate shingles deteriorated or were damaged 
by hail. In 2001 all porch roofs and small areas of the house roof were replaced with light gray composition 
shingles.

The facade elevation is defined by a large, wrap around porch that incoporates a polygonal turret and terminates in 
a projecting gable. The porch gable and roof set off the main entrance to the house. Six fluted Ionic columns, each 
on a double limestone base, support the front porch roof. The decorative swag carving in the south porch gable and 
the east porch are the same. Decorative panels containing swag carvings are found above the windows of the second 
floor of the turret. All exterior decorative carvings are painted white on a cream background.

Fenestration on the southern facade is comprised of two large double hung windows that provide second floor light 
and a larger double hung window provides first floor light for the parlor. Two second floor oval art glass windows 
grace the south elevation of the house. The front door of beveled glass and a name plate "Wm. F. Schaeffler," greets 
the visitor. A single double hung window is located next to the front door to the east. Five double hung windows 
provide a great view from the library on first floor cupola to the sidewalk and Grand Street.

The first feature noticed on the east elevation is a good sized art glass window facing east on the porch. Light from 
this window casts its rays into the main entrance hallway. At one time a porch swing was near the window. The 
second floor turret has three full length double hung windows and two leaded glass half windows. As in the south 
elevation, the east gable at the attic level has one double hung window. The second floor east view has two double 
hung windows and a deck just above the main floor providing a bay of three double hung windows. A single double 
hung window faces south onto the porch and another double hung window faces north. To complete the east 
elevation, there is a full length double hung window on the second floor and two shorter double hung windows on 
the main floor. A decorative chimney extends above the northeast corner of the house.

The north elevation is rather featureless, particularly on the second floor. A single full length double hung window 
is seen. Five columns support the back porch. A single, double hung window faces north and the north back entrance 
to the main floor of the house is also here. A smaller double hung window provides light for the second floor 
bathroom and a matching first floor double hung window provides light for the first floor half bath.

The top of the west elevation features an attic dormer and a small attic window. A door opens from the second floor 
hallway onto a deck above the west part of the porch. A second west entrance to the house off the west porch is 
noted. A ground level door provides the only outside entrance to the basement.
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The fireplace and furnace chimney is visible in the west elevation. Another dominant feature of the west elevation 
starts at the top with a small gable roof line. It is decorated with fish-scale shingles. This gable provides an area for 
a wide bay window on the first floor and also on the second floor matched in size and location. It also provides for 
two narrow but tall windows facing both north and south on both floors. The west elevation is concluded with two 
medium sized double hung windows, one on the first floor and another on the second floor. In conclusion 
approximately the south one-third of the building has a stone foundation and north two-thirds foundation is of 
concrete.

Entering the basement is accomplished by either using the west ground level exterior basement door and stairs or 
from the kitchen interior hallway door and stairs. The basement features three rooms, the small furnace room, a 
laundry room and a unique arched vegetable room. The arched room measures 18' 9" by 11' 6" and could make a 
"safe room" in case of storms. This vegetable room has numerous shelves to store canned goods from the garden 
and orchard known to have been located just north of the house.

Like the exterior, the Schaeffler House interior indicates a high level of architectural integrity. Doors, windows, light 
fixtures, and baseboards and trim have not been altered since construction. One exception is the addition of a 
dumbwaiter from the kitchen to the basement, c. 1919. All first floor rooms have a 9" baseboard.

One enters the first floor of the Schaeffler House from the south veranda into a hallway which is 7 6" wide and 14' 
9" long. Near the front of the hallway is a pocket door which leads to the parlor on the left. To the right is a door 
leading to the small library. Beyond that is a double landing staircase leading to the second floor with newel posts 
and balustrade. A small closet is also located in the foyer. Finally, the foyer ends with a door leading to the sitting 
room and another to the dining room. All first floor rooms have ten foot high ceilings.

The parlor measures 16' by 15' and features a large built in wall mirror. The mirror frame of dark hardwood stands 
94" high and 57" wide filling in the larger portion of the northwest corner of the parlor. The mirror itself is 59" high 
and 39" wide. It has been said that Mrs. Schaeffler who worked in the ladies department of the Schaeffler Store, 
used the large parlor mirror to preview some of the garments being offered by traveling sales representatives. The 
large mirror also gives the effect of increasing the size of the room. A colorful 36" diameter plaster ceiling design 
decorates an original gas etched glass chandelier located in the center of the parlor ceiling. Four electric lamps are 
also located on the parlor ceiling spaced to provide light to the four quarters of the parlor. Double pocket doors 
provide entrance to the sitting room to the north.

Next to the parlor to the north is the sitting room. The sitting room is 15' wide and 15' 6" long with a bay 3' to the 
west, 7' 6" wide. A spindle fret work decorates the bay. The fireplace is located angularly in the northwest corner 
of the main floor sitting room. The fireplace mantel is of dark hardwood and stands 92" high and 62" wide. The over 
mantel mirror is 41" wide and 23" high. The mantel has columns and shelves for displaying ornaments and pictures.
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The light colored with green overtones, tiled gas hearth is covered with a grate cover showing a child and angelic 
being warming themselves by the fire coals. A gas lighting fixture with three globes illuminated the sitting room 
and a decorative medallion in the center of the ceiling. Two electric lights are located on either side of the central 
chandelier. The picture hanging molding is 18" lower than the ceiling. A 5' pocket door leads from the sitting room 
to the dining room.

The Schaeffler House dining room measures 19' 6" in length including the three window bay and is 15' 6" wide. The 
east bay of the dining room is framed by a ceiling wood grille work that is 10' wide and 31" high at the ends and 
18" high at the center. The dining room fireplace and mantel is 5' 3" wide and 7 3" high. The bevel glass mirror is 
17" high and 35" wide. The fireplace summer cover is 27" high and 24" wide. It is of bronze and black stamped 
metal. An effort was made to identify the artist ps work on the summer piece. The scene portrayed looks something 
like Rembrandt's "A Musical Gathering." The motif shows a male person playing a violin-cello and perhaps a 
mother and daughter holding song books. A servant or youth is standing at the door with chalice and jug in hand. 
A larger male figure stands with hat on the left. Above the scene is what appears to be a leopard-like evil animal. 
This mythological art works goes mostly unnoticed because it can be only appreciated by looking downward at floor 
level.

A china closet door is located next to the sham fireplace and mantel. A small butler ps window allows a pass through 
counter for food to the dining room from the pantry. An 18" square beaded Tiffany style lamp shade combination 
gas and electric lighting fixture is located in the center of the dining room ceiling. A 40" in diameter ceiling 
medallion painted white contrasts with the darker lighting fixture. A door located in the northwest corner of the 
dining room leads to the kitchen. A second door leading from sitting room also leads to the kitchen.

The rather small kitchen is located on the north end of the Schaeffler House. It measures 15' 8" by 12' including a 
5'by 7 ' butler's pantry. The pantry has a built-in work counter of tin metal measuring 24" by 56" with a flour bin 
and other storage shelves on the window side. The work pantry has another work counter measuring 26 1A" by 56" 
built in the opposite side with a four shelf glass enclosed china cabinet on top, and more open shelf storage space 
below.

In addition to the kitchen dumbwaiter mentioned earlier, there is also a built-in folding out ironing board. A working 
Roundoak gas cook stove dating to the 1920s is located in the east side of the kitchen next to a simple kitchen sink. 
An east window here also lights the kitchen wash sink. A single electric light is located high on the kitchen ceiling. 
The back or maids staircase to the second floor is located in the northwest corner of the kitchen. The only inside 
stairs to the basement are located near the southwest corner of the kitchen under the maids staircase.

Just off the hallway that leads from the kitchen to the sitting room is a very small 48" by 50" half bath, with modern 
stool and sink. A small built-in storage cabinet is located above the sink. Across from the bath room is a 46" wide,
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50" tall and 10" deep broom closet.

The rather small Schaeffler House Library room is located just to the right of the main entrance to the house. The 
library is octagonal in shape and measures only 9' by 9' at its largest dimension. The five windows of the library 
provide good natural lighting for the library. A 20" in diameter centered ceiling medallion sets off the combination 
three etched glass gas light and a single electric light bulb chandelier. Two free standing bookcases largely cover 
the wallpaper treatment of the room. A dark rose patterned wallpaper covers the top 22" of the room walls. Below 
this is a 10" plain brown wallpaper space. A molding 80" above the floor provides wall space for a distinctive dark 
lustered pattern wallpaper. The only bright trim in the library is an inch wide gilded molding which sets off the wall 
from the ceiling line. There is only room for a small writing desk and a single chair in this cozy library.

The second floor of the Schaeffler House maintains a high degree of architectural integrity. No know alterations 
have been made on the second floor since construction in 1909. While the first floor had numerous examples of 
excess and decorations, the second floor is more practical in approach. A hallway runs down the center of the second 
floor from south to north with doors leading to the various rooms. All doors leading from the hallway have a 
transom. Ceilings on the second floor are all 8' 8" high. There are no signs of a gas lighting in any of the second 
floor rooms. Each room has a plain center room electric lighting.

The second floor of the Schaeffler House has two bedroom opposite each other in the center of the house. The east 
center bedroom was known as the boys bedroom. It measures 12' 6" by 15'. Robert Schaeffler would have used this 
room over the years as his bedroom, since he lived with his parents as a single man until their deaths. The room has 
a picture molding 9" from the ceiling and also features a very colorful oval art glass window facing south. The room 
has a good sized closet.

The west center bedroom located on the second floor of the Schaeffler House measures 11' in width and 15' in 
length, plus a 3' bay. The picture molding is 9" from the ceiling. Since this bedroom is in the center of the west side 
of the house, and the fact that it has two large closets and that it is next to the bathroom it could have been used as 
the master bedroom. The room however is rather narrow. A 5' wide double hung window faces west and an 18" wide 
double hung window opens in the bay from both the south and north, providing good natural light for the room. In 
winter this would be a warm room because it is enclosed on three sides.

The master bath of the Schaeffler House is located next down the hallway to the north. It measures & by 9'. The 
original cast-iron porcelain bath with eagle ps feet supports and a shower fixture above the bath indicates a 
well-appointed bathroom. The wash basin matches the early 1900's bath. The plumbing is chrome plated. The floor 
is of ceramic tile as is the lower 48" of the bathroom walls. The rest of the walls and ceiling is painted light beige. 
The bathroom has a beveled glass mirror on the west wall that measures 18" by 24". This mirror can be raised 
providing an opening for a laundry chute to the basement laundry room. A window on the north wall provides
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natural light and fresh air in summer. There is a plain central electric light fixture.

The den or child's bedroom is located on the southeast corner of the second floor. This was the Schaeffler's 
daughter Louise's bedroom. She occupied this room in 1909 at the age of nine years, until her marriage to Art Ebel 
in 1923. The room continues the octagonal dimensions of the first floor library. It is however a few feet larger being 
17' east and west at its longest and 9' at its widest. The room has three double hung windows and two half windows. 
An oval art glass window colorfully decorates the south wall of the room. The room has a small closet.

The southwest bedroom measures 15' by 15'. The picture moldings are located 10" below the ceiling. Two large 
double hung windows facing south and one facing west make this room bright and airy. The room has a good sized 
closet. This was likely the summer bedroom for Mr. and Mrs. Schaeffler because the south windows would allow 
the movement of cooler air into the room and down the hallway to the other upstairs rooms.

Finally, the Schaeffler House second floor has a north bedroom. This room also has been called the "maids" 
bedroom. The room measures 12' 6" by 12". A north wall and a east wall double hung 34" wide window provide 
good natural lighting. The room has a simple centered electric light. The east wall has an exposed chimney 
providing the possibility of an additional heating stove for this north bedroom. This bedroom provides access to an 
attic staircase located in the northwest corner of the room. Just to the west of the north bedroom is a long staircase 
leading to the first floor kitchen.

The attic, accessible from the maids bedroom was used by the Schaefflers for storage, a place to dry the laundry in 
winter and a play area for children. The attic is finished out and is all one open 
area but not convenient for living space because of low roof-lines.

Just beyond the house at a distance of 62' to the west, near the alley is a two-story 28' by 16' wooden frame carriage 
barn. This shed has a small cupola air vent on its roof, blending into the architecture of the nearby house. The house 
and the barn are the only two original structures on the south end of the half block facing Grand Avenue, preserving 
the integrity of the historic site. The house and carriage barn are painted white with green trim.
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The William F. and Ida G. Schaeffler House (c. 1909) is being nominated to the National Register under criterion 
B for its historical association with Hillsboro, Kansas merchants William F. (1861-1958) and Ida (Gerkstenkorn) 
Schaeffler (1867-1940) and under criterion C for its architectural significance as a Queen Anne house.

The William F. and Ida G. Schaeffler house has local significance in architecture and commerce. The Queen Anne 
style house is unchanged in structure as built by a local distinguished carpenter, C. M. Kliewer, and designed by 
St. Louis architect, Herbert C. Chivers. Architecturally, it is one of the most elaborate and best preserved homes 
built during the early 20th century in Hillsboro.

The Shaeffler House is an example of a hipped roof, cross gabled variant of the Queen Anne style. Typically, this 
variant of the Queen Anne style includes a front facing gable, elaborate porch and turret placed at one corner of the 
facade. In addition to incorporating standard design element of the popular Queen Anne style, the house adds 
decorative features from the classical tradition, such as panels swags and Ionic columns on the exterior and rich 
classically carved woodwork on the interior. Additionally, the textural variation so important to wall surfaces done 
in this style is achieved through the integration of cedar lap siding with fish scale shingling and, as originally 
constructed, a slate roof.

The Schaefflers were lifelong members of the Zion Lutheran Church of Hillsboro and contributed financial and 
moral support to the church. They lived only one-half block from the church. Mr. Schaeffler served as church 
treasurer for many years and received a Certificate of Recognition from the Zion Lutheran Church of Hillsboro 
indicating thirty years of service to the church as Sunday School Teacher and Superintendent from 1921 -1951. This 
Certificate is on display in the Schaeffler House.

William and Ida Schaeffler and their family compose the significant personalities of this register nomination. 
William F. Schaeffler was born September 22,1861 in "Oberamtsbezirk," Waiblingen, Wurttenberg, Germany. He 
was the seventh child of Johann Adam and Luise Schaeffler, nee Ehrhard. Several weeks after his birth he was 
baptized and accepted as a member of the Evangelical Lutheran Church. He attended public school in Cannstadt 
until 1875. During the next three years he was employed as an apprentice in a machine building factory and later 
worked at various plants until the age of twenty. Facing military service in Germany, William decided rather to 
emigrate to America where two of his brothers already lived in Marion County, Kansas and where also his 
parents, with three younger children had settled in the summer of 1881.

William Schaeffler set foot on Kansas soil on July 23,1883 at Florence. Being Sunday and so no train service to 
Marion, he walked the ten miles to Marion. In a few days he found employment at Stroh Brothers Mill in Marion. 
By fall 1883 he was employed by Funk Brothers Mill at Hillsboro, Kansas, with a monthly wage of $55.00. In the 
spring of 1884 fire destroyed the Funk Mill and so he found employment as a clerk in G. Kizler's store in Hillsboro. 
During summer wheat harvest William switched to threshing machine boiler operator making good money. When
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the threshing season ended, William this time found employment with Karl Ehrich, building and operating a mill 
in Lehigh, Kansas.

In the fall of 1885 William Schaeffler married Ida Gerstenkorn of Hillsboro and established their first home in 
Lehigh. By 1887 William found employment at Funk Brothers Mill in Hillsboro, and they made Hillsboro their 
home for the rest of their lives. William and Ida were married in Hillsboro on Christmas Day, December 25,1885 
in the Zion Lutheran Church. The Schaefflers had three sons, Adolph, Robert and Theodore, and one daughter 
Louise. On December 25,1935 the Schaefflers celebrated their Golden Wedding and two years later their fiftieth 
year in business in Hillsboro 1887-1937.

Ida Gerstenkorn was the daughter of Henry and Rosalie Gerstenkorn and was born in Poland on March 24,1867. 
Her parents and brothers and sisters immigrated to America in 1876 and began farming near Philadelphia, 
Pennsylvania. After three years of rather fruitless effort at this location, the Gerstenkorns decided to move to 
Kansas.

Schaeffler Mercantile Company had its humble beginning in 1887 when William and Ida Schaeffler rented a vacant 
business building located on block 2, lot 3 on the east side of Main Street in Hillsboro. The building was 20' by 25', 
with an annex of kitchen and living quarters on the second floor.

On April 27,1887 they opened a grocery and lunch counter, the first day selling $6.00 worth of merchandise and 
during the first month $300.00 worth. After four years the business outgrew the little building. They purchased the 
Schultz Building on the northwest corner of Main and Grand in Hillsboro. By the fall of 1893 the remodeled stone 
building now provided new room for expanded services and merchandise. The Schaeffler family continued to live 
in an enlarged annex at this new site known as the "1892" 25' x 80', stone building.

In a few years again the entire building was needed for business expansion. The Schaefflers bought the old home 
of his parents-in-law on West (Ash) Street, enlarging it for family and helpers lodging. In 1902 the Schaefflers 
decided to tear down the old building made of stone in which they had done business for about ten years and build 
a modern red brick 50' x 120' store, continuing their dominance of the main intersection of Hillsboro. In January 
1903 all business operations were transferred to one location. The store offered groceries and meats, men's 
furnishings, women's clothing, shoes and dry goods. They could now say that they were "selling everything you 
eat and wear."

By 1908 due to rapid growth of the business, the Schaefflers decided to share business operation with the younger 
generation and changed organization to a closed corporation with William's brother Eugene and several employees 
as business partners. The family owned and operated enterprise continued to prosper through the decades. Son 
Adolph Schaeffler became the president of the Schaeffler organization in 1929. The Schaefflers continued to operate
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their business until 1958, when William Shaeffler died.

In the November 20,1958 issue of the Hillsboro Star Journal appeared the following ad, "70 Years. A Landmark 
in Hillsboro Schaefflers Store This Month Will End the Existence of the Schaeffler Mercantile Company, Inc." 
Taking over the operations in the Schaeffler Block at Main and Grand were Ratzlaff s Clothiers, Ratzlaff s Super 
Market, and Marguerite's Dry Goods, Infants and Ready-to-wear. As of the year 2001, the Schaeffler Block 
building continues as a major shopping corner in Hillsboro. Now operating at this location is Dale's Super Market 
and Nancy's Fashions.

During the years of 1880s and 1890s, the William Schaeffler family generally lived in an annex to their store 
building. Success in the mercantile business allowed them to consider the construction of a new home. The Marion 
County Register of Deeds indicates that on November 22, 1895 William F. Schaeffler purchased Lots numbered 
9-16 in Block 4 City of Hillsboro, Marion County Kansas, for the sum of $250. At this point the Schaefflers had 
possession of the entire east half of Block 4 valued at $100.00. The lots were waiting for improvements.

William F. Schaeffler in his unpublished autobiography has little to say about the construction of their "dream"
home. However, the following is found on page 20, "In 1909 we had our new home built according to plans which
had been made eight years previous, but because in 1902 we had
decided to have a new business building erected, the building of the home had to be postponed, as it was one of my
rules never to undertake more than I could reasonably take care of, nor to yield to
wild speculations."

No detailed cost information has been found regarding the building of the 1909 Schaeffler House although the 
property values can be derived from tax rolls. The 1909 Hillsboro City Assessment Roll Book lists the taxable value 
of the William Schaeffler residence at $9,475. The Schaeffler Mercantile Company Assessments for 1909 are: 1 
horse $28.00, 1 buggy $10.00, 1 piano $100.00, Merchants stock $17,940.00, Merchants money and credits 
$3,030.00, with a Mercantile taxable value of $21,008.00.10 The Schaeffler family enterprise was doing well.

William and Ida Schaeffler together enjoyed their fine home on Grand Avenue from 1909 until 1940, a total of 
thirty-one years. Ida died on October 8,1940. The next family member to end service to the Schaeffler Mercantile 
Company was son Adolph W. Schaeffler, who died on August 25,1950. On November 16, 1958 at age 96 years 
and two months, William Schaeffler died leaving the house and store to son Robert Schaeffler and son-in-law A. 
W. Ebel and daughter Louise, Mrs. A. W. Ebel.

In October 1980 the Hillsboro City Council accepted the gift of the Schaeffler House from son Robert Schaeffler 
and daughter Louise (Schaeffler) Ebel. The Hillsboro City Council appointed the Hillsboro Historical Society 
responsible for restoration and maintenance of the Schaeffler House as a museum. Since that time the Schaeffler
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House has been available for tours by advanced appointment. The highlight of the Schaeffler House each year is 
the Victorian Christmas Open House usually held the last Sunday in November. The Schaeffler House is extensively 
decorated, Christmas music is provided and large attendance is experienced. Traditional Christmas refreshments 
are provided.

In 1987 several volunteers from the Hillsboro Historical Society accessioned 826 items in the Schaeffler House 
Collection. All of the above items are being kept in the Schaeffler House in the most appropriate environment. 
Accession records are in duplicate and are filed at separate locations. Collection categories include photographs, 
letters, travels and conventions, business operations, newspapers and magazines, and house construction and 
furnishings. The Schaeffler House Collection awaits further research and exhibit development.
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Verbal Boundary Description

The nominated property is located on the south 10' of Lot 12 and all of Lots 13,14,15, and 16 on Block 
4 in Hillsboro, Kansas. The property is bounded by Grand Street on the south, Jefferson Street on the 
east, and adjacent property lines on the west and north.

Boundary Justification

The nominated property contains all property historically associated with it.


